D-R-A-F-T

Wednesday, January 22, 2020 — 5:30 P.M.
Rockport Opera House Downstairs Meeting Room

Board Present: Chair Geoffrey Parker, Vice-Chair Dav1d Cockey, Kimberlee Graffam, Thomas
Kennedy, Maxwell MacCoole, Tem Mackenzie, and W. Kevin 01ehn1ck MD

Board Absent: None

Staff Present: Planner and Community Development Director Bill Najpauer, lVideo-
grapher Bruce Hilsmeyer, and Recording Secretary Deborah Sealey

Chair Geoffrey Parker opened the meeting a 5:30 pm: He said he and Kimberlee Graffam both
had potential conflicts of interest to be considered. _

Chair Parker said Ms. Graffam had previously said in a Planning Board meeting that she was in
favor of development downtown and he asked if this would make her biased. Ms. Mackenzie said
the PB minutes had shown Ms. Graffam stated she did not see parking as a problem. Ms. Graffam
responded that the properties in question had been owned by her family for many generations, so
she had personal ties to them. She was very much in favor of the development as presented, but
stated the she received no remuncration from the 20 Central Street hotel project and felt she could
be fair and impartial.

Ms. Mackenzie asked if the fact that the BOA would be considering only the hotel parking tonight,
and Ms. Graffam had earlier said she saw no problem with that, represented a prejudgment. Ms.
Graffam said she had probably already made up her mmd based on the fact that she had lived and
worked downtown since 1970.

Mr. Cockey said he understood tonight’s question was not about parking in general, but about the
suitability of the proposed off-site parking, about which Ms. Graffam had made no comment. Ms,
Graffam said she had not seen the proposed parking proposal until this afternoon. Chair Parker
agreed with Mr. Cockey that tonight’s mandate was the consideration of a very specific and narrow
issue.

MOTION: Thomas Kennedy made a motion, seconded by Kevin Olehnick, for Kimberlee
Graffam to recuse herself from this Zoning Board of Appeals case due
to her aforementioned conflict of interest.
Failed 0-6-1 (Ms. Graffam abstained)

Chair Parker said that as an audio/video professional he serviced customers on-site once or twice
a year and had done so at the 16 Bay St. Hotel. However, he received no remuneration from any
of Stuart Smith’s companies. It was about 5 hours of work per year and he felt it did not unduly
influence his interaction with the client. Mr. Parker confirmed for Ms. Graffam that he was at those
particular locations because that was where the event was happening, and not because it was a
promotion of that particular property.

Rockport Zoning Board of Appeals 1/22120 1 of6

e Lo of Rockport Zoning Board of Appeals .



MOTION: David Cockey made a motion, seconded by Kimberlee Graffam, that the situation
which the chairman has described does not pose a conflict of interest and he should
not be recused.

Carried 6-0-1 (Mr. Parker abstained)

Miscellaneous Appeal:

20 Central Street LLC - Appeal as per Section 803.3.1.3 of the L.and Use Ordinance for off-
street parking to accommodate 34 parking spaces at a remote location from the proposed
principal building, a requirement of the Planning Board: Engineer William Gartley, Tyler
Smith of Bayview Management, attorney Mark Corsi, and Matthew Levin, who oversees the Smiths’ hotels
in Camden, represented the applicant.

Mr. Smith said 20 Central Street LLC was currently going through Site Plan Review. Following its recent
Public Hearing, the Planning Board approved a motion requiring the hotel to provide 34 off-site vehicle
spaces in addition to the 24 it is providing on site, allocated to the hotel’s use. He said that, through Land
Use Ordinance Section 803.3.1.3, they had the ability to request an off-site parking location that cannot be
provided on the actual lot itself. He said they were here today to request Zoning Board of Appeals approval
for the proposed off-site parking plan.

To fulfill the parking requirements, the hotel had leased 45 parking spaces on the property located at 310
Commercial St. (the former Hoboken Gardens). This is an existing gravel parking located just north of the
existing greenhouse complex on that site. This would require no major site changes and would be
used wholly by hotel guests and employees.

Satellite parking needs to be located a reasonable distance from the hotel, since tests show that
customers prefer wait times of 5-10 minutes. The site proposed already has Rte. 1 curb cuts and
has been used heavily in the past. Mr. Smith displayed a drawing of the lot. He said test runs of
valet parking had shown a time of 5 minutes at the speed limit; thus, they deemed it a reasonable
distance for their use. Based on MDOT statistics, they did not feel there would be significant
impact on local traffic, which currently consisted of 4,710 vehicles traveling on Central St. daily.

Mr. Levin provided a detailed explanation of how the valet shuttle system worked, based on their
two hotels in Camden that provided the same service.

Moving onto Public Comment, Chair Parker asked members if they wanted to limit the speaking
time for each participant. ‘

MOTION: Terri Mackenzie made a motion, seconded by Thomas Kennedy, to limit public

comment to five minutes or less, subject to a vote to extend.
Carried 7-0-0

Rockport Zoning Board of Appeals 1/22120 2 of6



Chair Parker opened Public Comment at 6:03 p.m.

Clare Tully said she had been a resident for 20 years, raised her kids in Rockport, and had safety
concerns. She asserted that the satellite parking lot was not within a reasonable distance according
to the ordinance. It would spread the impact of commercial use over a mile and involve private
residents. She said Central St. was very busy and testing it in the winter would give a skewed
result. Ms. Tully felt the PB was moving forward too quickly and asked the BOA to vote against
this off-site parking proposal, which she characterized as a variance request.

Attorney Kristin Collins, attorney for Kimberly & Rex Rehmeyer, asked for 10 minutes to speak
since she had two clients, and then objected to Ms. Graffam’s participation because she had a ¢lear
conflict. She noted that many businesses on Central St. did not have parking allocated, including
offices. Peak demands for restaurants, hotel, etc. were all the same. She said it was impractical to
suggest that customers would wait each time they wanted their cars back. Ms. Collins said the
ordinance required applicants to meet the parking standards on site. She said this plan was not
practical in Rockport because it didn’t work.

Abutter Taylor Allen of Rockport Marine supported the project and said it was in the applicant’s
best interest to make the off-site parking work successfully.

Abutter Charlton Ames said he had been here since 1981 and had chaired the 2004 Comprehensive
Plan. It had become more congested since then and the new library would be open soon. He
requested that there be a professional survey of town parking and traffic. He concluded by saying
he hoped this worked, but he would feel more confident if a professional looked at it.

Chair Parker closed Public Comment at 6:28 p.m.

The Chair had a few questions about how the parking would work. Tyler Smith said all of Ms.
Collins concerns also came up at the PB meetings. He said they were not here looking fora shared
use approval. Mr. Gartley also clarified that they were not asking for a variance to the parking
standards. Mr. Levin confirmed for Chair Parker that all hotel employees would also park offsite.

Ms. Mackenzie asked on what basis the BOA was looking at this if it was not as a variance. Mr.
Cockey replied that LUO Section 801.3.1.3 said the BOA must give approval, whicht was the
basis. Mr. Najpauer read from “Miscellaneous Appeals”™: “to permit adjustments to the terms of
this ordinance in respect to curb cuts and off-street parking standards, provided such variances will
not result in traffic, pedestrian, or safety hazards.”

There were more questions about the details of the valet service. Mr. Cockey said this was a major
factor of the decision: whether the Board thought the valet system worked. Scenarios were
proposed to understand how they would be handled. There were also extended clarifications of
who would be allowed to use each set of parking spaces, how cars would be moved, etc.

Rockport Zoning Board of Appeals 1/22120 3 of6



e Kristin Collins returned to_the.podium.to argue_parking figures and. whether businesses had ... .__

dedicated spaces. She also questioned again the “reasonable distance” of the off-site lot. She said
it was not a reasonable plan because there was nowhere to queue up vehicles.

Chair Parker said the BOA was looking at 3 questions in making its decision: 1) is it a reasonable
distance, 2) is the lease contract valid, and 3) does the district allow business use? Ms. Mackenzie
was concerned that the access to the off-site lot was through a residential neighborhood. Utilizing
this lot would take a lot of management and she wondered how the use would be enforced. The
BOA had never before dealt with a hotel use, with its 24/7, intensive use, before.

Ms. Mackenzie asked for clarification of the ordinance requirement that the satellite parking be
“along the line of public access at a reasonable distance”, saying she found this vague. Planner
Najpauer said that, as written, it referred to what was reasonable for pedestrians, but he did not
feel it precluded other transportation modes, such as valet parking. The BOA’s task was to weigh
what remote sites were available in the area, or where the applicant could obtain a lease for a
remote parking area. Mr. Najpauer felt the Board had a lot of latitude on this issue.

He added that included in consideration would be how the parking system would be operated. It
would require a significant amount of management of the guests, the vehicles, and ingress and
egress of traffic. It would take a lot of work on the part of the hotel to manage this effectively and
efficiently, so as not to aggravate the parking in the downtown area.

Ms. Mackenzie felt this led to the question of enforcement: what were the methods of enforcement,
who would be responsible for enforcement, and what were the sanctions and/or solutions if it failed
to meet the standards. Ms. Mackenzie was concerned about the problem of perpetuity and the
disposition of the properties in the future.

Tyler Smith responded that parking was very important to his group. They had not been required
to have valet parking in Camden, but had put it in because they needed it for their customers and
recognized that safe, convenient parking is part of what people expect when they come to a hotel.
Mr. Smith said the hotel needed parking to stay in business.

Ms. Mackenzie said more time should be taken, which would benefit the hotel owner in the end.
Chair Parker agreed, but said the applicant had come this far. Selectman Doug Cole interjected to
say that the ORC was looking at the parking situation as a whole and assured the Board that things
were being done.

A break was called at 7:35 p.m. and discussion resumed at 7:50 p.m.

There was further lengthy discussion of the particulars of the issue before the Board, the possible
future of the hotel, parking in the village, and the contentiousness surrounding this issue. Ms.

Mackenzie and Mr. Cockey provided the most input.

Discussion continued while the Board formulated the verbiage of the Findings and final decision.

Rockport Zoning Board of Appeals 1/22120 4 of §



FINDING: Terri Mackenzie made a motion, seconded by Thomas Kennedy, that the Board of

-...Appeals finds as fact that the applicant’s off-street parking as proposed is located .. .

a reasonable distance from the principal building or use as measured along the line
of public access, contingent upon the use of valet parking as described in the
application,

Carried 7-0-0

FINDING: Maxwell MacCoole made a motion, seconded by David Cockey, that the Board
of Appeals finds as fact that the parking site in question is located in a zoning

district that is appropriate for business use.
Carried 7-0-0 '

Mr. Cockey was surprised that the lease of the off-site parking lot was for only 5 years. Attorney
Corsi said the issue was the cost years ahead; would the price be good in the future? Mr. Gartley
noted that leases could be made or broken any time if both parties agreed.

FINDING: Maxwell MacCoole made a motion, seconded by David Cockey, that the Board of
Appeals finds as fact that the lease fills the requirement for the off-street parking
area in Section 803.1.3 and the lease shall be in full force and effect as long as the
hotel operates.

Carried 7-0-0

FINDING: David Cockey made a motion, seconded by Kevin Olehnick , that the Board of
Appeals finds as fact that the submittal of the site plan labeled C-1 by the applicant
shows 45 parking spaces, which exceeds the 34 requested for remote parking for the
20 Central St. hotel by the Planning Board at its 12/19/19 meeting.

Carried 7-0-0

Ms. Mackenzie said for the record, “T wish the scale of the hotel was smaller and did not precipitate
and create this kind of additional parking problem. I’'m discouraged we had to go through this, but
I still think it could be scaled down without undue burden. I would urge any party that has any
control over this in the future to consider that.”

MOTION: Thomas Kennedy made a motion, seconded by David Cockey, that the Board of
Appeals permits the applicant to utilize off-street parking at 310 Commercial St.
consisting of a minimum of 34 spaces to be used to meet the off-street parking
requirement for the hotel at 20 Central St. with the following conditions: 1) the
lease for off-street parking shall remain in full force and effect as long as the hotel
1s operated, 2) a system of valet and shuttle parking services shall remain in
operation as long as the hotel remains in operation.

Carried 7-0-0

There was discussion of whether the Board wished to make a recommendation to the Planning
Board or Select Board concerning parking in the town. Members commented and, overall, this
proposal made them uncomfortable and/or was considered inappropriate. After further remarks by
Chair Parker, the Board decided not to take such an action.

Rockport Zoning Board of Appeals 1/22120 5of6



i
)

Adjournment

M(STION: Terri Ma(m:kenzw made amo},lon, seconc{t;dby ThOI?-t-l“aS Kennedy,":cg adjourn at
9:15 p.m.
Carried 7-0-0

Respectfully submitted,

Deborah Sealey
Recording Secretary

Rockport Zoning Board of Appeals 1/22120 6 of6



